Journal of Bone Oncology 34 (2022) 100425

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Bone Oncology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jbo

State-of-the-art of minimally invasive treatments of bone metastases

Cun Li^a, Qianghua Wu^a, Daijun Chang^a, Hui Liang^a, Xiaofei Ding^{b,*}, Chendeng Lao^{a,*}, Zonggui Huang^{a,*}

^a Department of Orthopaedics, The First People's Hospital of Nanning, Nanning, PR China ^b Department of Orthopaedics, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, PR China

HIGHLIGHTS

• Bone metastases are common in patients with malignant tumors and are highly dangerous.

• Options for treatment of bone metastases are diverse, choosing the appropriate treatment is difficult.

- Minimally invasive interventional procedures have less surgical trauma, fewer contraindications, high pain relief rate, and quicker patient recovery.
 Interventional procedures are emerging as a novel and effective option for the treatment of bone metastases.
- Interventional procedures are emerging as a novel and enective option for the treatment of bone metast

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 November 2021 Revised 17 March 2022 Accepted 17 March 2022 Available online 19 March 2022

Keywords: Bone metastases Image guided Interventional treatment Minimally invasive surgical technology Research progress

ABSTRACT

Bone metastases is a common manifestation of advanced malignant tumors. With the recent advances in medical technology, the survival period of patients with malignant tumors is prolonged, and the probability of bone metastases is significantly increased. Approximately 70% to 80% of patients with breast or prostate cancer will eventually develop bone metastases. In addition, thyroid, lung, and kidney carcinomas are all known to cause bone metastases, with a 30% to 40% incidence upon postmortem assessment. Bone metastases often lead to severe pain, pathological fractures, and nerve damage and have become a critical factor affecting the quality of life and life expectancy of cancer patients. Although treatments for bone metastases are diverse, choosing the appropriate treatment is difficult. Both conservative treatment and open surgery have certain drawbacks and may not be appropriate for all patients. Interventional procedures have the advantages of less trauma with quicker recovery and represent a viable alternative. This review provides updates on the progress of research on the interventional treatment of bone metastases and directions regarding relevant further studies.

© 2022 Published by Elsevier GmbH. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Commonly used minimally invasive treatment methods	3
	2.1. Pain relief techniques (cementoplasty)	3
	2.2. Minimally invasive bone strenthening procedures	5
	2.3. Local ablative techniques	6
	2.3.1. Radiofrequency ablation or microwave ablation	6
	2.3.2. Cryoablation	7
	2.3.3. High intensity focused ultrasound	9
3.	Discussion and proposals	0
	Author contributions	1
	Funding	1
	Declaration of Competing Interest	1
	References	1
	References	

* Corresponding authors.

E-mail addresses: gxdxf@163.com (X. Ding), 1765876597@qq.com (C. Lao), Huangzonggui-nn@163.com (Zonggui Huang).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbo.2022.100425

2212-1374/© 2022 Published by Elsevier GmbH.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



Review Article





1. Introduction

Bone is the most common site of metastasis for malignant tumors other than lung and liver, and the incidence of bone metastasis is significantly higher than that of primary malignant bone tumors [1,2] (Coleman 2001). Based on biopsy results and typical imaging findings, bone metastases occur in 70% to 80% of breast or prostate cancer patients, and almost 90% of myeloma patients. Besides, thyroid, lung, and kidney carcinomas are all known to cause bone metastases, with a 30% to 40% incidence upon postmortem assessment. However, only 5% of patients with gastrointestinal cancer will eventually develop bone metastases[3]. Bone metastases most often occur in the spine, followed by the pelvis, ribs, and femur. The destruction of bone and the invasion of surrounding soft tissue caused by tumor growth are the main causes of severe pain in patients. In the absence of aggressive treatment for metastases, large and medially located tumors can easily induce bone-related events, such as pathological fractures, neurological compression symptoms, and even paraplegia, which can have a significant impact on patients, including pain, reduced weight-bearing capacity, and limitations in daily activities [2,4,5]. The methods currently applied to clinical practice for the treatment of bone metastases include radiation or chemotherapy, bisphosphonates, targeted therapy, immunotherapy, open surgery, and minimally invasive interventional treatment methods. Despite the variety of therapeutic approaches, choosing a treatment modality for bone metastases is sometimes difficult, and a significant proportion of patients do not receive appropriate treatment [6]. Fig. 1 shows the various treatment options for bone metastases.

Radiotherapy and chemotherapy are vital to the treatment of bone metastases and can provide some pain relief and control of new metastases throughout the body. Radiotherapy is considered the standard of care for bone metastases and is widely used in clinical practice. However, it is less effective in patients with pathological fractures and spinal instability. Studies have noted that radiotherapy is ineffective in approximately 1/3 of patients with bone metastases [7]. Data from *meta*-analysis studies have revealed that > 40% of patients achieved approximately 50% reduction in pain levels about 1 month after radiotherapy, but less than 30% of patients achieved complete pain relief [8]. Radiotherapy generally takes 4-6 weeks to exert its optimal effect, but a significant proportion of patients with bone metastases have a short survival expectancy [9]. Radiotherapy does not achieve the goal of rapid pain relief and improvement of the patient's emotional state and quality of life as soon as possible. Stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT) is a widely used radiotherapy modality in recent years. SRT uses stereotactic technology to localize the lesion and irradiate the target area. It uses a single high dose of a small field set beam to produce focal necrosis, thus achieving a surgery-like effect. SRT uses 3D image reconstruction technology to obtain the precise spatial location of the lesion in the body with the help of fixation devices and computer calculations. SRT destroys the target tissue with little damage to the surrounding tissues through precise 3D stereotactic positioning and steep gradient changes in the irradiation dose between the target structure and the surrounding tissues. Although SRT for bone metastases has a higher rate of pain relief (approximately 50%-85%), it dramatically increases the risk of pathological fracture of the osseous lesion. Some studies reported a risk probability of as high as 10%–20% [10–14]. Some scholars believe that radiotherapy is not suitable for the treatment of metastatic bone tumors with low sensitivity and for patients who cannot receive high doses of radiation, such as patients with tumors composed of cells that contain a gene for radiation resistance, dormant tumor, and hypoxic tumor [4].

A significant proportion of patients treated with radiotherapy experience a recurrence of pain within a short period of time [4,15]. The American Collaborative Group on Radiation Oncology has studied the response rate of bone metastases to radiotherapy and showed that 54% of patients achieved complete pain relief, and 90% achieved partial pain relief; however, the probability of pain recurrence within 3 months among patients with effective treatment was 30% [16]. A similar conclusion was obtained in a study by Andrade, in which pain recurrence occurred at a rate of 35% approximately 1 month after radiotherapy [17].



Fig. 1. Treatment of bone metastases. Asbbreviations: RT: Radiation therapy; BTAs: Bone-targeted agents; PCP: Percutaneous cementoplasty; POP: Percutaneous osteoplasty; PVP: Percutaneous vertebraplasty; PKP:Percutaneous balloon kyphoplasty; PTA: Percutaneous thermal ablation; RFA: Radiofrequency ablation; MWA: Microwave ablation; HIFU: High intensity focused ultrasound; CA: Cryoablation.

The use of available bone targeted agents (BTAs), such as diphosphonates and denosumab, seems to be gaining more prominence recently in patients with bone metastases, which can reduce the osteolytic effect of tumors and anti-hypercalcemia caused by bone metastases. These drugs have considerably delayed the onset of bone pain and reduced the incidence of SREs in bone metastases patients, which is especially recommended for all breast cancer patients, myeloma patients and castration resistant prostate cancer patients with bone metastases [18,19]. As for patients with advanced lung cancer, renal cancer and other solid tumors, results from randomized controlled trials suggest that it can be used in those patients with survival longer than three months and clinically significant bone metastases [18–20]. Open surgery is widely used, especially for patients who are expected to survive for a long time and those with combined presence of nerve compression and skeletal instability [21]. Open surgery, on the other hand, is generally invasive and fraught with complications. It frequently necessitates a lengthy postoperative recovery period; it may postpone treatment of the primary disease and increase mortality rates, which some patients find unacceptable; and it is frequently ineffective in treating multiple bone metastases [22,23]. The average length of stay in hospital after open surgery for femoral metastases was 13.9 days; the postoperative complication rate was 8%, and the mortality rate was 13.9% at 3 months after surgery [22]. Considering the low quality of life and short survival time of patients with bone metastases, minimally invasive interventional procedures have been increasingly used for the treatment of bone metastases in recent years. They have the advantages of less surgical trauma, fewer contraindications, high pain relief rate, and quicker patient recovery. In this article, we intended to present the current research progress of the main minimally invasive interventional techniques for the treatment of bone metastases.

2. Commonly used minimally invasive treatment methods

2.1. Pain relief techniques (cementoplasty)

Percutaneous cementoplasty (PCP) is currently the most widely used method among minimally invasive treatments of bone metastases. These treatments include percutaneous osteoplasty (POP)

and percutaneous vertebroplasty (PVP). A working channel is established through the percutaneous penetration of a bone puncture needle into the target site under fluoroscopy or computerized tomography (CT), through which a formulated polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) is slowly injected into the diseased bone. Although the mechanism of this technique is not completely clear, the main principles of pain palliation are as follows. 1) Temperature-mediated destruction of nociception nervous terminals provides the foundations for pain palliation. 2) Solidification of PMMA between bone trabeculae after exothermic treatment is performed to enhance the strength of bone and restore the original height of bone. 3) The heat production and release of chemically toxic substances during the solidification of PMMA are performed to kill tumor cells [24-26]. However, some studies have concluded that PVP has weak anti-tumor effects, and a study recently suggested that it does not have tumoricidal effects [27]. Therefore, the anti-tumor effect of PMMA needs to be further verified through animal studies or in vitro experiments.

POP is used for both extremity and pelvic metastases, but it is most commonly used for metastases in the acetabular and femoral regions. Studies have demonstrated that POP is an effective treatment for bone metastases in the extremities and pelvic area, with the main risks being pathological fractures and nerve injury. In general, POP can be used alone or in combination with ablation and internal fixation devices. Fig. 2 shows a schematic diagram of POP in combination with ablation. Fig. 3 illustrates the surgical procedure. There is insufficient evidence from clinical studies to verify whether POP combined with ablation is superior to POP alone in the treatment of bone metastases, especially when the lesion is located in the bone and does not invade soft tissue [28,29]. However, it has been suggested that when osteolytic bone metastases are large and invade soft tissues, ablation can reduce the pain associated with the invasion of surrounding soft tissues. Thus, cementoplasty and ablation are frequently combined to treat pelvic metastases, which are often large and invade the soft tissues surrounding the pelvic girdle. Another study concluded that POP has a weak antitumor effect and that PMMA infusion increases the risk of cancer cells entering the circulation within minutes after injection. So, ablation can be performed before cement infusion to obtain better



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of POP combined with MWA. (A) presents a bone metastasis of the ilium that has broken through the cortex. (B) Percutaneous microwave ablation. (C) presents that the tumors apoptosis after ablation. (D) Percutaneous osteoplasty: injection of bone cement into the diseased ilium.



Fig. 3. A 82-year-old man with spine metastases due to lung cancer: (A) Preoperative computed tomography (CT) on the coronal plane showed spine metastases with "insect erosion" changes. (B) Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) on the sagittal plane showed spine metastases complicated with vertebral compression fracture at T12. (C) The bone puncture needle entered the vertebral body through the pedicle to establish a working channel. (D) The hollow biopsy needle was used to biopsy the focal tissue through the working channel. (F)-(H). Microwave ablation. (G) and (H) showed the multiple short-time intermittent ablation method for which the ablation needle retreated as ablation progressed. (I) Percutaneous vertebroplasty. E. The focal tissues were compared before and after ablation. The black is the tumor tissue after ablation, indicating carbonization.



Fig. 4. Schematic diagram of PVP (a pedicle approach). (A) presents a centrum with pathological fracture due to bone metastases. (B) Penetration into the vertebral body via the pedicle approach. (C) Injection of bone cement into the diseased vertebral body.

local tumor control [27,30,31]. Levy [31] conducted a multicenter study that included 100 cases, 97 of which were treated with cementoplasty combined with radiofrequency ablation therapy. Of these patients, 59% achieved pain relief within 3 days postoperatively, and 83% of the follow-up patients still had significant pain relief at 3 months postoperatively. The authors concluded that ablative therapy relieves tumor-induced pain and decreases tumor load, whereas cementoplasty enhances the mechanical stabilization of the bone. Such stabilization acts synergistically to increase the therapeutic effect, but this view is not yet supported by high-level evidence in the literature.

PVP has the same mechanism of action as POP and is now widely used in vertebral metastases. Fig. 4 shows a schematic diagram of PVP. The reliable safety and efficacy of PVP in the treatment of spinal metastases has been established beyond doubt; it has an overall efficiency of 60%–97% [25,32–38]. The most common complication of this technique is cement leakage, but the vast majority of these leaks are asymptomatic [36,39]. An observational study from Peking University investigated the epidemiology of cement leaks and further developed an algorithm to detect the high risk of cement leaks [36]. This study reported that the overall bone cement leakage rate was 61.17% (189/309) after exclusion of discal cement leakage and paravertebral cement leakage. And, these characteristics identified as having significant predictive value, including increased number of treated vertebrae levels, cortical osteolytic destruction in the posterior wall, extravertebral bone metastases, and younger age, could be used to develop a predictive algorithm to detect the high risk of cement leaks among advanced cancer patients with metastatic spinal disease treated with PVP. Hector et al [39] systematically studied the occurrence of complications in patients with bone metastases treated with PVP. A total of 117 patients with 304 diseased vertebrae treated with PVP had 423 postoperative cement leaks, of which 332 were vascular cement leaks and 91 were non-vascular cement leaks. The non-vascular leaks were all asymptomatic, and only two patients (1.7%) with vascular leaks developed symptomatic pulmonary embolism; one of these two patients died due to pulmonary embolism. There were six additional local complications, namely, two cases of puncture site hematoma and four cases of radicular pain due to nerve injury.

Although the incidence of serious complications due to bone cement leakage is low, it is still essential to make every effort to avoid leakage intraoperatively. The following measures can be taken to prevent cement leakage [40]. First, the injected cement should not be too runny, and the cement can be filled in advance by using a cement injector and then injecting the cement into the vertebral body when the cement is in the shape of toothpaste; second, the speed must be slow when injecting the first shot of cement and fluoroscopy while injecting, because the first injected cement is the thinnest and is most likely to leak outside the vertebral body; then, after injector and wait for about 2–3 min for the bone cement to harden before pulling out the bone cement injector, so as to avoid bringing the bone cement injector.

The technique was further improved by Dr. Pflugmacher in 1997 with the invention of percutaneous balloon kyphoplasty (BKP) [41]. BKP has essentially the same effect as PVP, but BKP is performed by first creating a gap in the vertebral body with a balloon to restore the height of the vertebral body and then injecting PMMA; this is the main difference between BKP and PVP [38]. Berenson et al [35] showed in a randomized controlled trial that BKP is effective and safe in the treatment of vertebral metastases combined with compression fractures. However, due to spinal metastases, compression fractures are often accompanied by cortical destruction at the posterior margin of the vertebral body, which may be exacerbated during balloon spreading by BKP implantation, thereby resulting in increased cement penetration [42]. At the same time, the process of balloon implantation and spreading may also push the tumor into the vertebral canal, resulting in implantation and metastasis [43].Nevertheless another study revealed that BKP could restorate the original somatic morphology and diminish the spinal kyphosis. PMMA leakages not observed in the BKP, instead have been found in the PVP localized in the intersomatic or perispinal areas [38]. In conclusion, for vertebral metastases without compression fractures, PVP is sufficiently effective and cheaper than BKP. However, for patients with compression fractures, no studies proved that BKP is more effective and safer than PVP [37].

2.2. Minimally invasive bone strenthening procedures

Bone destruction caused by metastases frequently results in mechanical instability and even pathological fracture of the bone, in which case the main goal of treatment is to stabilize bone metastatic structural defects at risk of fracture as soon as possible and to avoid delaying oncological care. The exothermic solidification of bone cement, as mentioned earlier, increases the strength of the bone. However, it is distinguished by greater compressive stress resistance and less resistance to shear, bending, and torsional stresses [44,45] . Sutter et al. conducted a controlled study to investigate the ability of femoroplasty (POP for the proximal femur) as a prophylaxis to attenuate the potential for fracture under simulated fall conditions with cadaver femur specimens [44]. This study showed that when the osteoporotic femora were loaded in simulated fall conditions, femoroplasty significantly increased fracture load and energy to fracture, and cement filling in the femoral neck may play a more important role in the extent to which femoroplasty affects the mechanical strength of the proximal femur. Nevertheless, it should be noted that this study was based on cadaver specimens and osteoporotic proximal femurs, and that the amount of cement injected and the shape of the disseminated cement formation were relatively easy to control, unlike proximal femoral bone metastases, because metastatic lesions are solid composition, to a certain extent, on the blocking effect of bone cement injection and dispersion.

Generally, POP alone can be applied to bones with concentrated compressive stresses, such as acetabular metastases, whereas POP alone without internal fixation is associated with a risk of secondary pathological fracture in bones with concentrated shear and torsional stresses, such as the diaphysis and metaphysis of long limbs. Several studies have suggested that it is associated with a risk of fracture in cases of impending pathologic fracture of the proximal femur because it provides insufficient mechanical stability [46–49]. Interestingly, a current systematic review compared the efficacy of POP alone and POP in combination with internal fixation devices for impending pathologic proximal femoral fractures from metastatic malignancy [50]. The results showed no significant differences between them in terms of pain relief, operative time, and fracture-related complication rates. It is worthy of note that since all studies in this review were short follow-ups and there is a paucity of large clinical trials, the decision of a combined procedure should be individualized by taking into account the nature, location, and size of metastatic lesions as well as the overall medical condition of patients. Besides, the Mirels' score system has been commonly used to assess the risk of fracture in long bone metastases and can help determine whether a combination of internal fixation devices is requisite. Generally, patients with a Mirels' score of > 9 are more likely to have a pathological fracture and require an internal fixation device [51]. However, Van der Linden believed in his review that the Mirels' score system is unreliable because of its low specificity and positive predictive values (13% and 14%) [52]. Similarly, several other studies found the Mirels' score system to be insufficiently specific for predicting fracture [53,54]. They also pointed out that most conventional risk factors may overestimate the actual occurrence of a pathological fracture with the consequence of surgical overtreatment if they were to be used in deciding which treatment to apply for patients with a limited life expectancy [52–54]. Van der Linden proposed another method to assess the risk of pathological fracture in femoral metastases. Patients with>30 mm of axial cortical involvement are at a higher risk of pathological fracture, and the intraoperative application of an internal fixation device is justified [52,55]. Deschamps supported this view and advocated the use of cortical involvement exceeding 3 cm or complicated with previous small rotor fractures as an indication for prophylactic osteosynthesis [49]. In general, to avoid excessive surgery, caution should be exercised when these risk factors are to be applied directly to patients, as the risks of surgery may outweigh the proposed benefits of improved pain and function. On top of that, the clinician has to balance the cortical involvement of tumor bone with the performance status and life expectancy of each individual patient.

The predominant goals of minimally invasive internal fixation procedures are to prevent impending fractures or stabilize a pathological fracture. Concerning the minimally invasive surgical tools, several kinds of internal fixator devices have been reported, the most common being intramedullary nails, screws or hollows, and stainless steel spinders. Intramedullary nails are the most commonly used and can nearly always be implied in actual or impending shaft fractures, which occur most often in the femur or the humerus [56,57]. For actual or impending fractures of the proximal femur, which are most common in the femoral neck, followed by the subtrochanteric and intertrochanteric regions, an intramedullary reconstruction nail including femoral neck and head fixation is also recommended as a viable option [58]. Intramedullary nails have several advantages: they protect a long segment of bone, the required dissection is small, the periosteum's blood supply is preserved, and rigid fixation can be achieved by locking the nail with proximal and distal interlocking screws and/or using bone cement around the nail[59].

However, there are still some remarks to be made about the intramedullary nailing procedure. Tumor spread along the nail track needs to be considered, and nailing should be avoided in patients with a good prognosis. As for lesions located at the femoral or humeral neck and head, particularly when a fracture has occurred, treated with intramedullary nails showed higher mechanical failure and reccurence rates compared with arthroplasty. As a result, hemiarthroplasty or total arthroplasty is generally preferred to internal fixation for this condition, especially for patients with a longer life expectancy. [60,61] Additionally, as load-sharing devices rather than load-bearing devices, intramedullary nails are at risk of failure without cement augmentation. Other disadvantages include the need for adequate bone stock at the site of the locking screw and the inapplicability of lesions near the joint. However, if the lesion is located at the head or condyle of the femur or humerus, intramedullary nailing may not be appropriate in this case. POP alone, or in combination with screws or thermal ablation, can be efficient enough in cases with shortterm survival. [62]. Kim et al. carried out a retrospective observational study that included 89 patients in which percutaneous hollow perforated screw (HPS) fixation combined with POP was performed as a minimally invasive technique that provides effective pain relief and early stabilization for the treatment of patients with femoral neck metastasis [63].

2.3. Local ablative techniques

2.3.1. Radiofrequency ablation or microwave ablation

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is an imaging-guided percutaneous puncture method used to reach the lesion. In RFA, small electrodes with dual regulation of temperature and heat production power are used to generate high-frequency current (>10 kHz) to make the tissue ions in the living body vibrate in the direction of the current change, accordingly, causing the tissue ions around the electrodes with the current action to rub against each other and subsequently generate heat. Coagulative necrosis of the tissue is the result of RFA. Considering the advantages of minimal invasiveness, effective thermal coagulation, and targeted destruction of diseased tissues, RFA is gradually gaining the attention of scholars [64]. RFA treatment lies in the fact that malignant tumors are more sensitive to heat than healthy tissues. Basic and clinical studies have delineated that bone tumor tissues are sensitive to thermal damage, and any tumor cell can be killed at 50 °C [65–67]. The main mechanisms of RFA for pain palliation in bone metastases are believed to be as follows. On the one hand, the intraoperative heat production of RFA can directly and effectively destroy the sensory nerve endings of the focal bone cortical surface, periosteum and surrounding soft tissues, thereby cutting off local pain transmission pathways [68]. On the other hand, tumor cells can produce various cytokines and tumor growth factors, such as tumor necrosis factor-a, interleukin and endothelin, and so on, which can increase the sensitivity of sensory nerves to stimuli, consequently decreasing pain thresholds [69,70]. Certain tumorderived factors promote osteoclast activity and thus aggravate pain [71]. RFA reduces pain by killing tumor cells, decreasing the concentration of pain-inducing cytokines and tumor growth factors, and inhibiting osteoclast activity. In addition, the tumor blood supply is blocked after ablative inactivation of the lesion. The apoptosis of tumor cells in conjunction with the gradual atrophy and collapse of tumor tissue at a later stage inhibit the further destruction of periosteum and surrounding soft tissues by tumor cells, contribute to reduce postoperative recurrence, and indirectly prevent the development of microscopic and macroscopic fractures to release pain [69]. Callstrom [72] conducted a study on the RFA treatment of a single-arm clinical trial of osteolytic bone metastases. Twelve patients with single focal osteolytic bone metastases who failed to respond to radiotherapy were selected and treated with RFA only, and the study demonstrated that the patients' mean pain score (VAS) decreased from 8 preoperatively to 3.2 at 4 weeks postoperatively without serious complications. Goetz et al [73] enrolled 43 patients with bone metastases in a multicenter clinical study of RFA. Most of the patients were treated with radiotherapy preoperatively. The results showed that 95% of the patients experienced postoperative pain relief.

Microwave ablation is a novel clinically applied technique, and its underlying principle is similar to that of radiofrequency ablation, i.e., thermal ablation. Fig. 5 shows a schematic diagram of MWA. Fig. 6 illustrates the surgical procedure. Microwave ablation utilizes the microwave magnetic field released by the microwave ablation needle to cause the surrounding polar molecules and charged particles to rotate at high speed and heat up by friction, thereby resulting in tissue coagulation, dehydration, and necrosis, and then achieving the treatment purpose [74]. In comparison to radiofrequency ablation, microwave ablation is an open system that does not require the placement of electrode plates outside the body, has a high ablation frequency (915 or 2450 MHz) and strong penetration, has a synergistic effect of combined ablation with multiple needles, and has little influence from carbonization, blood, and cerebrospinal fluid flow. Accordingly, microwave ablation has the characteristics of rapid heat production, high intratumor temperature, short ablation time, and large ablation range [74]. Zhang et al[75] studied the efficacy of microwave ablation combined with cementoplasty in the treatment of bone metastases. One hundred and forty-seven cases were selected for inclusion in the study. Results indicated that patients' postoperative VAS pain scores improved at 24 h. 1 week. 4 weeks. 12 weeks. and 24 weeks postoperatively. Patients took less pain medication than before, and their ability to perform daily activities improved. Only four cases had complications, as follows: one pathological fracture, one nerve injury, and two skin soft tissue infections. Bone cement leakage occurred in 69 cases without adverse effects. Qiu et al [76] came to a similar conclusion that microwave ablation is safe and effective in the treatment of bone metastases. Pusceddu et al^[77] reported that microwave ablation significantly reduced pain in patients with bone metastases and could reduce the tumor recurrence rate from 26% - 67% to 6%.

Thermal ablation therapy alone has its limitations [4,75,76,78,79]. Although thermal ablation alone for spinal metastases can shrink the tumor tissue, the cavity left behind is prone to vertebral compression fractures and spinal stenosis under body load [78]. For weight-bearing areas of the extremities and acetabulum, radiofrequency ablation therapy alone can reduce the mechanical stability of the bone and raise the risk of secondary pathological fractures. Accordingly, when the lesion is located in a critical weight-bearing area or when the risk of pathological fracture is assessed to be high, a combination of cementoplasty or minimally invasive internal fixation surgery ought to be applied [79]. Studies revealed that the utilization of vertebroplasty or internal fixation after radiofrequency ablation of tumors is effective in relieving patients' pain and avoiding vertebral collapse [4,77–79]. Otherwise, Dupuy et al [80] concluded that osteogenic lesions are usually inappropriate for RFA, because electrode pins are tricky to open in osteogenic lesions.



Fig. 5. Schematic diagram of microwave ablation. Multiple short-time intermittent ablation method has the following details: ablation power is set at 60 W, ablation time is set at $1 \sim 2$ min for each site, and ablation needle is gradually retreated after ablation. The white dot is the microwave emission point, and the red area represents the ablation range. Ablation power and time can be changed on a case-by-case basis. (A) \sim (C) show the multiple short-time intermittent ablation method for which the ablation needle retreated as ablation progressed. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 6. A 72-year-old woman with spine metastases due to lung cancer: A. Microwave ablation needle B. Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) on the sagittal plane showed spine metastases at L4, and L5. C. Microwave ablation was performed in lateral decubitus position. D. Intraoperative lateral X-ray showed microwave ablation was performed on the lesions of L4.

The occurrence of thermal injury when performing thermal ablation treatment demands to be a focus of research, because serious consequences may arise when the ablation area exceeds the target area. This is particularly true when the tumor is close to critical neurovascular bundles or when the tumor invades the posterior border of the vertebral body and the vertebral arch. Experimental animal studies have demonstrated that irreversible damage to neural tissue may occur when the temperature exceeds 45 °C [81-83]. Nakatsuka et al [84] applied microwave ablation combined with cementoplasty to treat 23 cases of bone metastases, 17 of which were located in the spine. All patients with neurological damage were those with cortical or pedicle disruption at the posterior border of the vertebral body. Thus, care should be taken to prevent damage due to inaccurate control of ablation extent when the tumor is in close proximity to important structures. On the one hand, during thermal ablation treatment, thermocouples for temperature monitoring can be placed next to important tissue structures. Then, when the temperature of the couples exceeds 43 °C-45 °C. saline can be instilled in time to lower the temperature and prevent damage to important tissue structures. However, of particular note is that care should be taken to avoid provoking and damaging important structures when placing the couples [82,85,86]. On the other hand, the use of local anesthesia facilitates intraoperative real-time monitoring of neurological function, which is of great relevance to the reduction of neurological impairment. The American College of Radiology Imaging Network performed RFA under local anesthesia for 55 cases of bone metastases, and only three cases had procedure-related complications. Two of these three cases were due to nerve injury, with an overall complication rate of 5% (3/55) [72]. Pain in patients during and immediately after thermal ablation is a concern of clinicians. Considering the transient pain exacerbation after ablation, Cazzato et al [28] displayed through a systematic review that the post-operative complication rate of MWA was about 4%, which was much lower than the 30% for RFA. In that study, a significant proportion of complications in RFAtreated cases was considered to be intra- or postoperative pain sensation, whereas the low incidence of intra- and postoperative pain sensation in MWA may be due to the lack of attention and reporting in current clinical studies.

2.3.2. Cryoablation

Cryoablation has been applied to bone metastases for more than 10 years. The basic principle of cryoablation is the throttling expansion effect of gas, i.e., the rapid expansion of a high-



Fig. 7. The throttling expansion process (Joule-Thomson test). After the highpressure gas passes through the porous valve, its pressure drops significantly. This phenomenon is called throttling. The temperature of gases, such as helium and neon, drops significantly after passing through the throttling, and this phenomenon is the result of the Joule-Thomson effect.

pressure gas flow through a porous plug into a larger space will absorb the surrounding heat, resulting in a significant decrease in the surrounding temperature to produce a freezing effect. Fig. 7 shows a schematic diagram of the throttling expansion process (Joule-Thomson test). Fig. 8 illustrates the imaging comparison of lesions before and after surgery. The critical low temperature that causes cell death is -40 °C [87]. Cryoablation can rapidly freeze cancer tissues below -40 °C and then rewarm them. The process of freezing and rewarming can directly cause dehydration and rupture of cancer cells. Meanwhile, low temperature can cause vasospasm and thrombosis of tumor, thus destroying tumor blood supply and causing hypoxia and apoptosis. Apoptotic tumor tissues left in situ after procedure can be used as antigens to promote anti-

tumor immune response. Freezing may increase the sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapy or radiotherapy [87-89]. Cryoablation can make the frozen area of sufficient size through the combination of multiple needles, which is convenient to adjust and control the ablation range of tumor, thereby achieving the purpose of conformation ablation. The damage to the surrounding normal tissue is less; consequently, the procedure is safe to treat tumors closed to large blood vessels and other dangerous parts. In contrast to thermal ablation, such as radiofrequency ablation, cryoablation has been found to be characterized by a uniform temperature distribution and higher cell death rate. Moreover, there is no pain caused by high temperature, as a result of no need for general anesthesia, thus the risk of anesthesia is minimized. Multiple tumor lesions can be treated simultaneously, and the formation of ice balls during cryoablation makes the treatment process and treatment effect easy to monitor [90–92]. Studies have shown that cryoablation is a safe, effective, and durable treatment for bone metastases [90–99]. Callstrom et al [90] enrolled 61 patients with bone metastases to analyze the therapeutic effects of cryoablation. All patients were either unwilling to undergo radiotherapy or underwent radiotherapy and found it to be ineffective. This study indicated that 75% of the patients (46/61) experienced 90% or higher degree of pain relief during follow-up; 14% experienced a recurrence of pain approximately 2 months after the procedure; and only one case had a postoperative complication, namely, osteomyelitis. In comparison with previous studies, the authors concluded that cryoablation provides faster pain relief than radiotherapy for bone metastases. It also has a lower probability of pain recurrence; however, there is no sufficient evidence from randomized controlled clinical studies to validate this opinion. Compared with microwave and radiofrequency ablation, cryoablation provides comparable pain relief. Cryoablation is safer when the lesion is close to vital tissues and organs, because the ice spheres produced during procedure are visible on imaging technologies, such as X-ray and CT. In addition, the probability of intraoperative and postoperative pain is lower with cryoablation due to the absence of heat-induced pain [92]. Motta et al [91] applied cryoablation techniques to patients with bone metastases with anesthesia risk assessment ASA III and demonstrated that all patients obtained significant pain relief and none had serious complications. According to research findings of Tomasian et al [93], cryoablation was more advantageous than radiofrequency ablation for osteogenic vertebral metastases. Regarding the need for combination therapy, it has been suggested that the combination of cryoablation with radiotherapy or cementoplasty or bisphosphonates results in a better clinical prognosis than these regimens alone [98–100]. This result is due to the fact that cryoablation provides immediate pain



Fig. 8. (A) Noncontrast computed tomography (CT) image of the upper chest with bone windows demonstrates an osteolytic metastasis in the medial head of the right clavicle (arrows). A cryoprobe (arrow head) is placed in the metastasis. (B) Noncontrast CT image of the upper chest with body windows demonstrates an ice ball, visible as a low attenuation area about the cryoprobe with 0 at the ice-ball tissue boundary, extending beyond the margin of the clavicle and the osteolytic metastasis (arrows) [90].

relief, whereas treatment measures such as bisphosphonates or cementoplasty may provide more durable results.

Although cryoablation has a high safety profile, a systematic review of the literature reported that its main complications were fever, nerve injury, and pathological fracture; the overall complication rate was approximately 8% with a fracture rate of 2.6% [101,102].

2.3.3. High intensity focused ultrasound

High intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) or magnetic resonance-guided focused ultrasound (MRgFUS) is a non-invasive technique that produces biological effects, such as high temperature (above 55 °C), cavitation, and mechanical effects within the tumor area by focusing low energy ultrasound waves outside the body on the target area [103]. Fig. 9 shows a schematic diagram of HIFU. The principle of HIFU for the treatment of bone metastases lies the fact that the bone cortex absorbs more ultrasound energy and has less ability to conduct energy, thereby generating high temperature in the bone cortex and the periosteum on the surface and causing denervation of the periosteum and necrosis of the tumor tissue behind the bone cortex [104,105]. Reduced compression of the surrounding soft tissues by bone metastases after HIFU treatment and lower amounts of immunosuppressive cytokines in the circulating blood may be involved in the pain relief mechanism [104,106,107]. There are three general approaches to reach the target area via the pathways of extracorporeal ultrasound, namely, the near-target area pathway, direct therapeutic target pathway, and the trans-soft tissue pathway [108]. Fig. 10 shows a schematic diagram of three different ablation models of HIFU. The first two pathways are suitable for patients with intact or partially present bone cortex adjacent to the tumor, and the third is suitable for patients with complete destruction of the bone cortex adjacent to the tumor. The near-target area pathway involves focusing the ultrasound beam at approximately 10 mm away from the target bone cortex. The cortical surface intersects the beam path to produce a temperature increase. The direct target zone pathway involves the following: the ultrasound beam focuses directly on the cortical surface of the target zone. The trans-soft tissue pathway can destroy the remaining periosteal nerves inside the tumor and kill the tumor cells directly by focusing the ultrasound beam inside the osteolytic bone tumor. Giving that the bone cortex next to the tumor is completely destroyed, there is no bone and tumor junction zone in the trans-soft tissue pathway. Considering the high absorption of ultrasound energy by the bone cortex, bone metastases with more residual bone mass only require a lower level of ultrasound energy to achieve effective thermal ablation than those with less residual bone mass [109]. Therefore, the effectiveness of HIFU treatment and the level of energy required for treatment can be predicted based on the invasion of the bone cortex by bone metastases.

HIFU is normally performed under MRI guidance, which allows the use of the proton resonance frequency shift that occurs during ablation and real-time temperature monitoring using relevant software; thus, the regulation of ablation is facilitated, and the safety of ablation is increased [110]. Compared with other ablation methods, MRgFUS has a high resolution of both the tumor lesion and the parietal tissues during the procedure, and the intraoperative real-time temperature monitoring is accurate up to 2 °C, which ensures the ablation of the tumor area with sufficiently high temperature while allowing precise temperature control of the surrounding normal tissues to avoid damage. Furthermore, MRI can be used immediately after the procedure to assess the degree of ablation of the target area. Huisman et al [111] applied MRIguided high-frequency focused ultrasound knife to treat 11 patients with bone metastases whose pain could not be relieved by standard treatment methods (i.e., radiotherapy). Joo et al. [112] showed that patients suffering from pain due to metastases were effectively relieved within 2 weeks, and the pain relief duration could reach>1 year when they were treated with MRI-guided focused ultrasound knife for bone metastases. Another study found that patients who underwent HIFU directly without radiotherapy preoperation had a higher rate of pain relief than those who underwent HIFU after radiotherapy; moreover, for patients with recurrent pain after radiotherapy, HIFU therapy resulted in a higher rate of pain relief than undergoing radiotherapy again [113]. Hurwitz et al. [114] conducted a randomized controlled study, in which 112 cases of bone metastases were included in the MRgFUS group, and 35 cases were included in the control group. Lee et al. [115] compared the efficacy of MRgFUS and conventional radiotherapy in the treatment of bone metastases in a controlled study. The results showed that both were effective and had comparably long-term efficacy (both had > 70% pain relief at 3-month posttreatment follow-up). Nevertheless, the pain relief rate was significantly higher in patients treated with MRgFUS than radiotherapy at 1 week (71% vs 26%, p = 0.0009), suggesting that MRgFUS can provide faster pain relief in patients with bone metastases.

It is relatively safe to perform HIFU. On the basis of an up-todate published meta–analysis study, which collected 26 studies with a total sample size of 799 patients to evaluate the incidence of adverse events, the overall rate of severe (defined as CTCAE grade \geq 3) MRgFUS-related adverse events were 0.9% and mild (defined as CTCAE grade \leq 2) MRgFUS-related adverse events were 5.9%, respectively. Among these studies, only seven (0.9%) severe toxicity cases were noted. In detail, severe adverse events com-



Fig. 9. Schematic diagram of HIFU.



Fig. 10. The ablation models of HIFU. Three different ablation models: the near-target pathway, direct therapeutic target pathway and the *trans*-soft tissue pathway. (A) The bone cortex next to the tumor is intact or partially destroyed, and the planed focus of the ultrasonic beam is distal to (behind) the bone. (B) The bone cortex next to the tumor is intact or partially destroyed, and the planed focus of the ultrasonic beam is directly positioned on the cortical surface of the targeted region. (C) The bone cortex next to the tumor is completely destroyed, and the planed focus of the ultrasonic beam is inside the osteolytic bone tumor.

prised four fractures, one DVT, and two cases of grade III skin burn. Conversely, 47 (5.9%) mild toxicity cases (CTCAE grade less than 3) were recorded, encompassing post-treatment pain (24 cases), lowgrade skin burns (5 cases), focal edema (7 cases), focal numbness (8 cases), and post-treatment fever (3 cases) [116].Specifically, post-radiotherapy acute pain fare had an incidence ranging from 40% to 68% compared with only 3% observed with MRgFUS in these studies [116,117].

Same as thermal therapy, pain sensation during procedure is another main complications of performing MRgFUS, which had been reported incidence of up to 11.8% in the study [117]. Considering the short time of application of this technique and the limitations of ultrasound's own characteristics, few clinical reports have investigated its application in the treatment of bone metastases. Further studies are needed to determine the mechanism and principles underlying its treatment of bone metastases, as well as the standardized procedure of its operation.

3. Discussion and proposals

In summary, there are several kinds of interventional therapies or minimally invasive surgeries for patients with bone metastases. The above methods are relatively frequently used clinically at present. With the development of novel medical concepts and minimally invasive techniques, some patients with bone metastases are no longer merely treated with conservative palliative treatment or highly invasive open surgery. Minimally invasive or interventional therapies are gradually being used to reduce trauma and to hasten recovery. Many factors affect the choice of treatment measures and prognosis because of the different conditions of patients with bone metastases. Clinicians should evaluate in detail the patient's pathological type of lesion, age, physical condition, and economic situation to develop an individualized therapeutic schedule.

At present, most of the current studies are single-center clinical experiences with short follow-up, and a standardized system of minimally invasive treatment has not been developed. In particular, the comparison of efficacy and safety between radiotherapy and various interventional techniques has not been adequately studied. In response to the above research gaps, we present the potential trends in this field, as follows. 1) More high-quality randomized controlled studies may need to be conducted to compare the therapeutic effects of interventional therapies or minimally invasive surgeries for patients with bone metastases with those of conventional RT, which is often used as a first-line treatment. 2) The development of a treatment guideline to guide the selection of appropriate populations, the standardization of the treatment process and operational procedures may be helpful and instructive to clinicians who plan to perform minimally invasive treatment for patients with bone metastases in the future. 3) Optimizing the treatment strategy for patients with bone metastasis by integrating multimodal treatments with minimal toxicities to reduce pain, restore function, and maintain quality of life is also imperative. 4) With regard to the choice of image guidance modality, X-rays and CT guidance are still dominant due to their good validity. With the popularization of MRI technology and equipment, MRI is playing an increasingly important role in the diagnosis and treatment of diseases. Compared with X-ray and CT, MRI have ascendancy over them with the virtues of no radioactivity. clear images, and high tissue resolution. Furthermore, MRI can guide and monitor ablation temperature in real time, simultaneously the ablation range is more distinguishable than that of CT. All of these characteristics give MRI the advantage of being more effective and safer. However, MRI may not be easily accessible in some hospitals. On the one hand, MRI is expensive and time consuming, also the technique seems to be complex to operate. And on the other, there are few studies on MRI-guided interventional therapy for bone metastases, and its operation process and feasibility study results are not fully clear. Therefore, MRIguided interventional treatment of bone metastases is likely to develop into a new research direction in the future. 5) Additionally, it is worthy of note that pain perception is needed to be fully assessed and valued intra- and postoperative, most notably thermal ablation operation. Lidocaine injection into the lesion trans puncture channel has been proposed as a valid option, which promises to uncover a novel response to intraoperative pain perception.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication. CL wrote the manuscript. QW, DC and HL assisted in searching and screening the literature. ZH, CDL and XD provided guidance for the literature search, the writing of the paper and guaranteed the integrity of this work.

Funding

No funding was received for this study.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- R.E. Coleman, Metastatic bone disease: clinical features, pathophysiology and treatment strategies, Cancer Treat. Rev. 27 (3) (2001) 165–176.
- [2] R. Coleman, P. Hadji, J.-J. Body, D. Santini, E. Chow, E. Terpos, S. Oudard, Ø. Bruland, P. Flamen, A. Kurth, C. Van Poznak, M. Aapro, K. Jordan, Bone health in cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines †, Ann. Oncol. 31 (12) (2020) 1650–1663.
- [3] H.E. Walther, The anatomy and pathways of skeletal metastases, in: L. Weiss, A. Gilbert (Eds.), Bone metastases, GK Hall, Boston, 1981.
- [4] B.A. Georgy, Metastatic spinal lesions: state-of-the-art treatment options and future trends, AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol. 29 (9) (2008) 1605–1611.
- [5] R.E. Coleman, Clinical features of metastatic bone disease and risk of skeletal morbidity, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (20 Pt 2) (2006) 6243s-6249s.

- [6] A. Kirou-Mauro, A. Hird, J. Wong, E. Sinclair, E. Barnes, M. Tsao, C. Danjoux, E. Chow, Has pain management in cancer patients with bone metastases improved? A seven-year review at an outpatient palliative radiotherapy clinic, J. Pain Symptom Manage. 37 (1) (2009) 77–84.
- [7] E. Chow, K. Harris, G. Fan, M. Tsao, W.M. Sze, Palliative radiotherapy trials for bone metastases: a systematic review, J. Clin. Oncol. 25 (11) (2007) 1423– 1436.
- [8] J.P. Agarawal, T. Swangsilpa, Y. van der Linden, D. Rades, B. Jeremic, P.J. Hoskin, The role of external beam radiotherapy in the management of bone metastases, Clin. Oncol. (R. Coll. Radiol.) 18 (10) (2006) 747–760.
- [9] T. Sprave, V. Verma, R. Förster, I. Schlampp, T. Bruckner, T. Bostel, S.E. Welte, E. Tonndorf-Martini, N.H. Nicolay, J. Debus, H. Rief, Randomized phase II trial evaluating pain response in patients with spinal metastases following stereotactic body radiotherapy versus three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy, Radiother. Oncol. 128 (2) (2018) 274–282.
- [10] A. Sahgal, E. Atenafu, S. Chao, A. Al-Omair, N. Boehling, E. Balagamwala, M. Cunha, I. Thibault, L. Angelov, P. Brown, J. Suh, L. Rhines, M. Fehlings, E. Chang, Vertebral compression fracture after spine stereotactic body radiotherapy: a multi-institutional analysis with a focus on radiation dose and the spinal instability neoplastic score, Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 31 (27) (2013) 3426–3431.
- [11] S. Faruqi, C. Tseng, C. Whyne, M. Alghamdi, J. Wilson, S. Myrehaug, H. Soliman, Y. Lee, P. Maralani, V. Yang, C. Fisher, A. Sahgal, Vertebral Compression Fracture After Spine Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy: A Review of the Pathophysiology and Risk Factors, Neurosurgery 83 (3) (2018) 314–322.
- [12] A. Sahgal, C. Whyne, L. Ma, D. Larson, M. Fehlings, Vertebral compression fracture after stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal metastases, Lancet Oncol. 14 (8) (2013) e310–e320.
- [13] M. Cunha, A. Al-Omair, E. Atenafu, G. Masucci, D. Letourneau, R. Korol, E. Yu, P. Howard, F. Lochray, L. da Costa, M. Fehlings, A. Sahgal, Vertebral compression fracture (VCF) after spine stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT): analysis of predictive factors, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 84 (3) (2012) e343–e349.
- [14] P. Rose, I. Laufer, P. Boland, A. Hanover, M. Bilsky, J. Yamada, E. Lis, Risk of fracture after single fraction image-guided intensity-modulated radiation therapy to spinal metastases, Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 27 (30) (2009) 5075–5079.
- [15] S. Ven, D. Bongard, B. Pielkenrood, N. Kasperts, W.S. Eppinga, M. Peters, H. Verkooijen, J. Velden, Patient-Reported Outcomes of Oligometastatic Patients After Conventional or Stereotactic Radiation Therapy to Bone Metastases: An Analysis of the PRESENT Cohort ScienceDirect, International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics 107 (1) (2020) 39–47.
- [16] O. Salazar, P. Rubin, F. Hendrickson, R. Komaki, C. Poulter, J. Newall, S. Asbell, M. Mohiuddin, J. Van Ess, Single-dose half-body irradiation for palliation of multiple bone metastases from solid tumors, Final Radiation Therapy Oncology Group report, Cancer 58 (1) (1986) 29–36.
- [17] R. Andrade, J. Proctor, R. Slack, U. Marlowe, K. Ashby, L. Schenken, A simple and effective daily pain management method for patients receiving radiation therapy for painful bone metastases, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 78 (3) (2010) 855–859.
- [18] R. von Moos, L. Costa, E. Gonzalez-Suarez, E. Terpos, D. Niepel, J. Body, Management of bone health in solid tumours: From bisphosphonates to a monoclonal antibody, Cancer Treat. Rev. 76 (2019) 57–67.
- [19] S. D'Oronzo, R. Coleman, J. Brown, F. Silvestris, Metastatic bone disease: Pathogenesis and therapeutic options: Up-date on bone metastasis management, Journal of Bone Oncology 15 (2019) 100205.
- [20] R.E. Coleman, A. Lipton, L. Costa, R.J. Cook, K.-A. Lee, F. Saad, J.E. Brown, E. Terpos, P.P. Major, N. Kohno, M. Smith, J.-J. Body, Possible survival benefits from zoledronic acid treatment in patients with bone metastases from solid tumours and poor prognostic features—An exploratory analysis of placebo-controlled trials, Journal of Bone Oncology 2 (2) (2013) 70–76.
 [21] D. Spratt, W. Beeler, F. de Moraes, L. Rhines, J. Gemmete, N. Chaudhary, D.
- [21] D. Spratt, W. Beeler, F. de Moraes, L. Rhines, J. Gemmete, N. Chaudhary, D. Shultz, S. Smith, A. Berlin, M. Dahele, B. Slotman, K. Younge, M. Bilsky, P. Park, N. Szerlip, An integrated multidisciplinary algorithm for the management of spinal metastases: an International Spine Oncology Consortium report, Lancet Oncol. 18 (12) (2017) e720–e730.
- [22] B. Ristevski, R. Jenkinson, D. Stephen, J. Finkelstein, E. Schemitsch, M. McKee, H. Kreder, Mortality and complications following stabilization of femoral metastatic lesions: a population-based study of regional variation and outcome, Canadian journal of surgery, Journal canadien de chirurgie 52 (4) (2009) 302–308.
- [23] W.G. Ward, S. Holsenbeck, F.J. Dorey, J. Spang, D. Howe, Metastatic disease of the femur: surgical treatment, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 415 (2003) S230–S244.
- [24] T. Jakobs, C. Trumm, M. Reiser, R. Hoffmann, Percutaneous vertebroplasty in tumoral osteolysis, Eur. Radiol. 17 (8) (2007) 2166–2175.
- [25] B. Lee, I. Franklin, J. Lewis, R. Coombes, R. Leonard, P. Gishen, J. Stebbing, The efficacy of percutaneous vertebroplasty for vertebral metastases associated with solid malignancies, European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990) 45(9) (2009) 1597-602.
- [26] B. Roedel, F. Clarençon, S. Touraine, E. Cormier, L. Molet-Benhamou, L. Le Jean, H. Brisse, S. Neuenschwander, J. Chiras, Has the percutaneous vertebroplasty a role to prevent progression or local recurrence in spinal metastases of breast cancer?, Journal of Neuroradiology 42 (4) (2015) 222–228
- [27] A. Balestrino, S. Boriani, R. Cecchinato, A. Parafioriti, M. Gambarotti, A. Gasbarrini, Vertebroplasty shows no antitumoral effect on vertebral

metastasis: a case-based study on anatomopathological examinations, Eur. Spine J. 29 (12) (2020) 3157–3162.

- [28] R. Cazzato, J. Garnon, J. Caudrelier, P. Rao, G. Koch, A. Gangi, Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of painful spinal metastasis: a systematic literature assessment of analgesia and safety, International journal of hyperthermia : the official journal of European Society for Hyperthermic Oncology, North American Hyperthermia, Group 34 (8) (2018) 1272–1281.
- [29] N. Kam, J. Maingard, H. Kok, D. Ranatunga, D. Brooks, W. Torreggiani, P. Munk, M. Lee, R. Chandra, H. Asadi, Combined Vertebral Augmentation and Radiofrequency Ablation in the Management of Spinal Metastases: an Update, Curr. Treat. Options Oncol. 18 (12) (2017) 74.
- [30] A. Tomasian, T. Hillen, R. Chang, J. Jennings, Simultaneous Bipedicular Radiofrequency Ablation Combined with Vertebral Augmentation for Local Tumor Control of Spinal Metastases, AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol. 39 (9) (2018) 1768–1773.
- [31] J. Levy, T. Hopkins, J. Morris, N. Tran, E. David, F. Massari, H. Farid, A. Vogel, W. O'Connell, P. Sunenshine, R. Dixon, A. Gangi, N. von der Höh, S. Bagla, Radiofrequency Ablation for the Palliative Treatment of Bone Metastases: Outcomes from the Multicenter OsteoCool Tumor Ablation Post-Market Study (OPuS One Study) in 100 Patients, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 31 (11) (2020) 1745–1752.
 [32] S. Molloy, M. Sewell, J. Platinum, A. Patel, S. Selvadurai, R. Hargunani, C.
- [32] S. Molloy, M. Sewell, J. Platinum, A. Patel, S. Selvadurai, R. Hargunani, C. Kyriakou, Is balloon kyphoplasty safe and effective for cancer-related vertebral compression fractures with posterior vertebral body wall defects?, J Surg. Oncol. 113 (7) (2016) 835–842.
- [33] R. Kassamali, A. Ganeshan, E. Hoey, P. Crowe, H. Douis, J. Henderson, Pain management in spinal metastases: the role of percutaneous vertebral augmentation, Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology 22 (4) (2011) 782–786.
- [34] R. Buchbinder, R. Osborne, P. Ebeling, J. Wark, P. Mitchell, C. Wriedt, S. Graves, M. Staples, B. Murphy, A randomized trial of vertebroplasty for painful osteoporotic vertebral fractures, The New England journal of medicine 361 (6) (2009) 557–568.
- [35] J. Berenson, R. Pflugmacher, P. Jarzem, J. Zonder, K. Schechtman, J. Tillman, L. Bastian, T. Ashraf, F. Vrionis, Balloon kyphoplasty versus non-surgical fracture management for treatment of painful vertebral body compression fractures in patients with cancer: a multicentre, randomised controlled trial, Lancet Oncol. 12 (3) (2011) 225–235.
- [36] X. Shi, Y. Cui, Y. Pan, B. Wang, M. Lei, Epidemiology and detection of cement leakage in patients with spine metastases treated with percutaneous vertebroplasty: A 10-year observational study, Journal of bone oncology 28 (2021) 100365.
- [37] J. Bae, H. Gwak, S. Kim, J. Joo, S. Shin, H. Yoo, S. Lee, Percutaneous vertebroplasty for patients with metastatic compression fractures of the thoracolumbar spine: clinical and radiological factors affecting functional outcomes, The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society 16 (3) (2016) 355–364.
- [38] S. Masala, R. Fiori, F. Massari, G. Simonetti, Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty: new equipment for malignant vertebral fractures treatment, Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research : CR 22 (2003) 75–79.
- [39] H. Barragán-Campos, J. Vallée, D. Lo, E. Cormier, B. Jean, M. Rose, P. Astagneau, J. Chiras, Percutaneous vertebroplasty for spinal metastases: complications, Radiology 238 (1) (2006) 354–362.
- [40] D. Fourney, D. Schomer, R. Nader, J. Chlan-Fourney, D. Suki, K. Ahrar, L. Rhines, Z. Gokaslan, Percutaneous vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty for painful vertebral body fractures in cancer patients, J. Neurosurg. 98 (2003) 21–30.
- [41] R. Pflugmacher, P. Beth, R. Schroeder, K. Schaser, I. Melcher, Balloon kyphoplasty for the treatment of pathological fractures in the thoracic and lumbar spine caused by metastasis: one-year follow-up, Acta radiologica (Stockholm, Sweden: 1987) 48(1) (2007) 89-95.
- [42] P. Hulme, J. Krebs, S. Ferguson, U. Berlemann, Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty: a systematic review of 69 clinical studies, Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 31(17) (2006) 1983-2001.
- [43] L. Xie, Y. Chen, Y. Zhang, Z. Yang, Z. Zhang, L. Shen, Z. Yuan, M. Ren, Status and prospects of percutaneous vertebroplasty combined with 125 I seed implantation for the treatment of spinal metastases, World J. Surg. Oncol. 13 (1) (2015) 1–12.
- [44] E.G. Sutter, S.C. Mears, S.M. Belkoff, A Biomechanical Evaluation of Femoroplasty Under Simulated Fall Conditions, J. Orthop. Trauma 24 (2) (2010) 95–99.
- [45] P.F. Heini, T. Franz, C. Fankhauser, B. Gasser, R. Ganz, Femoroplastyaugmentation of mechanical properties in the osteoporotic proximal femur: a biomechanical investigation of PMMA reinforcement in cadaver bones, Clin. Biomech. 19 (5) (2004) 506–512.
- [46] G.C. Anselmetti, A. Manca, C. Ortega, G. Grignani, F. DeBernardi, D. Regge, Treatment of Extraspinal Painful Bone Metastases with Percutaneous Cementoplasty: A Prospective Study of 50 Patients, Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol. 31 (6) (2008) 1165–1173.
- [47] R. Dayer, R. Peter, Percutaneous cementoplasty complicating the treatment of a pathologic subtrochanteric fracture: A case report, Injury-international Journal of the Care of the Injured 39 (7) (2008) 801–804.
- [48] N. Toyota, A. Naito, H. Kakizawa, M. Hieda, N. Hirai, T. Tachikake, T. Kimura, H. Fukuda, K. Ito, Radiofrequency Ablation Therapy Combined with Cementoplasty for Painful Bone Metastases: Initial Experience, Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol. 28 (5) (2005) 578–583.

- [49] F. Deschamps, G. Farouil, A. Hakime, A. Barah, B. Guiu, C. Teriitehau, A. Auperin, T. deBaere, Cementoplasty of metastases of the proximal femur: is it a safe palliative option?, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 23 (10) (2012) 1311–1316
- [50] D. Kitridis, M.F. Saccomanno, G. Maccauro, P. Givissis, B. Chalidis, Augmented versus non-augmented percutaneous cementoplasty for the treatment of metastatic impending fractures of proximal femur: A systematic review, Injury 51 (2020) S66–S72.
- [51] H. Mirels, The Classic: Metastatic Disease in Long Bones A Proposed Scoring System for Diagnosing Impending Pathologic Fractures, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 415 (2003) S4–S13.
- [52] Y.M. Van der Linden, P.D.S. Dijkstra, H.M. Kroon, J.J. Lok, E.M. Noordijk, J.W.H. Leer, C.A.M. Marijnen, Comparative analysis of risk factors for pathological fracture with femoral metastases, Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery-british 86-B (4) (2004) 566–573.
- [53] T.A. Damron, H. Morgan, D. Prakash, W. Grant, J. Aronowitz, J. Heiner, Critical evaluation of Mirels' rating system for impending pathologic fractures, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 415 (2003) 201–207.
- [54] M. El-Husseiny, N. Coleman, Inter- and intra-observer variation in classification systems for impending fractures of bone metastases, Skeletal Radiol. 39 (2) (2010) 155–160.
- [55] Y. Linden, H.M. Kroon, S. Dijkstra, J.J. Lok, E.M. Noordijk, J. Leer, C. Marijnen, F. B. Group, Simple radiographic parameter predicts fracturing in metastatic femoral bone lesions: results from a randomised trial, Radiotherapy & Oncology Journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology & Oncology 69 (1) (2003) 21–31.
- [56] J. Pretell, J. Rodriguez, D. Blanco, A. Zafra, C. Resines, Treatment of pathological humeral shaft fractures with intramedullary nailing. A retrospective study, Int. Orthop. 34 (4) (2010) 559–563.
- [57] M. Laitinen, J. Nieminen, T.K. Pakarinen, Treatment of pathological humerus shaft fractures with intramedullary nails with or without cement fixation, Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. 131 (4) (2011) 503–508.
- [58] A. Piccioli, B. Rossi, L. Scaramuzzo, M.S. Spinelli, Z. Yang, G. Maccauro, Intramedullary nailing for treatment of pathologic femoral fractures due to metastases, Injury-international Journal of the Care of the Injured 45 (2) (2014) 412–417.
- [59] B.J. Kistler, T.A. Damron, Latest Developments in Surgical and Minimally Invasive Treatment of Metastatic Bone Disease, Current Surgery Reports 2 (4) (2014) 1–12.
- [60] M. Steensma, P.J. Boland, C.D. Morris, E. Athanasian, J.H. Healey, Endoprosthetic Treatment is More Durable for Pathologic Proximal Femur Fractures, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 470 (3) (2012) 920–926.
- [61] N. Harvey, E.R. Ahlmann, D.C. Allison, L. Wang, L.R. Menendez, Endoprostheses Last Longer Than Intramedullary Devices in Proximal Femur Metastases, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 470 (3) (2012) 684–691.
- [62] J.J. Willeumier, Y.M. van der Linden, M.A.J. van de Sande, P.D.S. Dijkstra, Treatment of pathological fractures of the long bones, Efort Open Reviews 1 (5) (2016) 136–145.
- [63] Y.-i. Kim, H.G. Kang, J.M. Lee, J.H. Kim, S.-k. Kim, H.S. Kim, Percutaneous Palliative Surgery for Femoral Neck Metastasis Using Hollow Perforated Screw Fixation and Bone Cement, Jbjs Open Access 2 (2) (2017) e0018.
- [64] R.P. Liddell, Consensus Guidelines in Image-guided Tumor Ablation: Toward Evidence-based Interventional Oncology, Radiology 301 (3) (2021) 541–542.
 [65] P. Mertyna, A. Hines-Peralta, Z. Liu, E. Halpern, W. Goldberg, S. Goldberg,
- [65] P. Mertyna, A. Hines-Peralta, Z. Liu, E. Halpern, W. Goldberg, S. Goldberg, Radiofrequency ablation: variability in heat sensitivity in tumors and tissues, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 18 (5) (2007) 647–654.
- [66] K. Overgaard, J. Overgaard, Investigation on the possibility of a thermic tumour therapy. II. Action of combined heat-roentgen treatment on a transplanted mouse mammary carcinoma, Eur. J. Cancer 8 (5) (1972) 573– 575.
- [67] A. Eriksson, T. Albrektsson, Temperature threshold levels for heat-induced bone tissue injury: a vital-microscopic study in the rabbit, The Journal of prosthetic dentistry 50 (1) (1983) 101–107.
- [68] D. Mach, S. Rogers, M. Sabino, N. Luger, M. Schwei, J. Pomonis, C. Keyser, D. Clohisy, D. Adams, P. O'Leary, P. Mantyh, Origins of skeletal pain: sensory and sympathetic innervation of the mouse femur, Neuroscience 113 (1) (2002) 155–166.
- [69] P. Mantyh, D. Clohisy, M. Koltzenburg, S. Hunt, Molecular mechanisms of cancer pain, Nat. Rev. Cancer 2 (3) (2002) 201–209.
- [70] A. Oprée, M. Kress, Involvement of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-6 but not IL-8 in the development of heat hyperalgesia: effects on heat-evoked calcitonin gene-related peptide release from rat skin, J. Neurosci. 20 (16) (2000) 6289–6293.
- [71] P. Honore, N.M. Luger, M.A.C. Sabino, M.J. Schwei, S.D. Rogers, D.B. Mach, P.F. O'keefe, M.L. Ramnaraine, D.R. Clohisy, P.W. Mantyh, Osteoprotegerin blocks bone cancer-induced skeletal destruction, skeletal pain and pain-related neurochemical reorganization of the spinal cord, Nat. Med. 6 (5) (2000) 521– 528.
- [72] M. Callstrom, J. Charboneau, M. Goetz, J. Rubin, G. Wong, J. Sloan, P. Novotny, B. Lewis, T. Welch, M. Farrell, T. Maus, R. Lee, C. Reading, I. Petersen, D. Pickett, Painful metastases involving bone: feasibility of percutaneous CT- and USguided radio-frequency ablation, Radiology 224 (1) (2002) 87–97.
- [73] M. Goetz, M. Callstrom, J. Charboneau, M. Farrell, T. Maus, T. Welch, G. Wong, J. Sloan, P. Novotny, I. Petersen, R. Beres, D. Regge, R. Capanna, M. Saker, D. Grönemeyer, A. Gevargez, K. Ahrar, M. Choti, T. de Baere, J. Rubin, Percutaneous image-guided radiofrequency ablation of painful metastases

involving bone: a multicenter study, Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 22 (2) (2004) 300–306.

- [74] M.G. Lubner, C.L. Brace, J.L. Hinshaw, F.T. Lee, Microwave tumor ablation: mechanism of action, clinical results, and devices, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 21 (8) (2010) S192–S203.
 [75] X. Zhang, X. Ye, K. Zhang, Y. Qiu, W. Fan, Q. Yuan, J. Fan, L. Wu, S. Yang, M. Hu,
- [75] X. Zhang, X. Ye, K. Zhang, Y. Qiu, W. Fan, Q. Yuan, J. Fan, L. Wu, S. Yang, M. Hu, C. Xing, L. Chen, L. Zhang, J. Wang, C. Song, C. Wang, Computed tomographyguided microwave ablation combined with osteoplasty for the treatment of bone metastases: a multicenter clinical study, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 32 (6) (2021) 861–868.
- [76] A. Yyq, K.X. Zhang, C.X. Ye, A. Xsz, X.A. Chao, B. Qsw, A. Mmh, D. Pxl, J.J. Wang, Combination of Microwave Ablation and Percutaneous Osteoplasty for Treatment of Painful Extraspinal Bone Metastasis - ScienceDirect, J. Vasc. Interv. Radiol. 30 (12) (2019) 1934–1940.
- [77] C. Pusceddu, B. Sotgia, R. Fele, L. Melis, Treatment of bone metastases with microwave thermal ablation, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 24 (2) (2013) 229–233.
- [78] P. Pezeshki, S. Davidson, K. Murphy, C. McCann, E. Slodkowska, M. Sherar, A. Yee, C. Whyne, Comparison of the effect of two different bone-targeted radiofrequency ablation (RFA) systems alone and in combination with percutaneous vertebroplasty (PVP) on the biomechanical stability of the metastatic spine, European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society 25 (12) (2016) 3990–3996.
- [79] C. Pusceddu, B. Sotgia, R. Fele, N. Ballicu, L. Melis, Combined Microwave Ablation and Cementoplasty in Patients with Painful Bone Metastases at High Risk of Fracture, Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol. 39 (1) (2016) 74–80.
- [80] D. Dupuy, D. Liu, D. Hartfeil, L. Hanna, J. Blume, K. Ahrar, R. Lopez, H. Safran, T. DiPetrillo, Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of painful osseous metastases: a multicenter American College of Radiology Imaging Network trial, Cancer 116 (4) (2010) 989–997.
- [81] T. Yamane, A. Tateishi, S. Cho, S. Manabe, M. Yamanashi, A. Dezawa, H. Yasukouchi, K. Ishioka, The Effects of Hyperthermia on the Spinal Cord:, Spine 17 (11) (1992) 1386–1391.
- [82] F.E. Diehn, Z. Neeman, J.L. Hvizda, B.J. Wood, Remote thermometry to avoid complications in radiofrequency ablation, Journal of Vascular & Interventional Radiology Jvir 14 (12) (2003) 1569–1576.
- [83] G. Froese, R. Das, P. Dunscombe, The sensitivity of the thoracolumbar spinal cord of the mouse to hyperthermia, Radiat. Res. 125 (2) (1991) 173–180.
- [84] A. Nakatsuka, K. Yamakado, M. Maeda, M. Yasuda, M. Akeboshi, H. Takaki, A. Hamada, K. Takeda, Radiofrequency ablation combined with bone cement injection for the treatment of bone malignancies, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 15 (7) (2004) 707–712.
- [85] A. Nakatsuka, K. Yamakado, H. Takaki, J. Uraki, M. Makita, F. Oshima, K. Takeda, Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of painful spinal tumors adjacent to the spinal cord with real-time monitoring of spinal canal temperature: a prospective study, Cardiovasc. Intervent. Radiol. 32 (1) (2009) 70–75.
- [86] A. Kastler, A. Krainik, L. Sakhri, M. Mousseau, B. Kastler, Feasibility of Real-Time Intraprocedural Temperature Control during Bone Metastasis Thermal Microwave Ablation: A Bicentric Retrospective Study, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 28 (3) (2017) 366–371.
- [87] S. Ullrick, J. Hebert, K. Davis, Cryoablation in the musculoskeletal system, Curr. Probl. Diagn. Radiol. 37 (1) (2008) 39–48.
- [88] D. Filippiadis, S. Tutton, A. Kelekis, Percutaneous bone lesion ablation, Radiol. Med. 119 (7) (2014) 462–469.
- [89] M. Ahmed, L. Šolbiati, C. Brace, D. Breen, M. Callstrom, J. Charboneau, M. Chen, B. Choi, T. de Baère, G. Dodd, D. Dupuy, D. Gervais, D. Gianfelice, A. Gillams, F. Lee, E. Leen, R. Lencioni, P. Littrup, T. Livraghi, D. Lu, J. McGahan, M. Meloni, B. Nikolic, P. Pereira, P. Liang, H. Rhim, S. Rose, R. Salem, C. Sofocleous, S. Solomon, M. Soulen, M. Tanaka, T. Vogl, B. Wood, S. Goldberg, Image-guided tumor ablation: standardization of terminology and reporting criteria-a 10year update, Radiology 273 (1) (2014) 241–260.
- [90] M. Callstrom, D. Dupuy, S. Solomon, R. Beres, P. Littrup, K. Davis, R. Paz-Fumagalli, C. Hoffman, T. Atwell, J. Charboneau, G. Schmit, M. Goetz, J. Rubin, K. Brown, P. Novotny, J. Sloan, Percutaneous image-guided cryoablation of painful metastases involving bone: multicenter trial, Cancer 119 (5) (2013) 1033–1041.
- [91] A. Motta, G. Caltabiano, S. Palmucci, G. Failla, A. Basile, Feasibility of percutaneous cryoablation of vertebral metastases under local anaesthesia in ASAIII patients, Eur. J. Radiol. 95 (2017) 13–17.
- [92] P. Thacker, M. Callstrom, T. Curry, J. Mandrekar, T. Atwell, M. Goetz, J. Rubin, Palliation of painful metastatic disease involving bone with imaging-guided treatment: comparison of patients' immediate response to radiofrequency ablation and cryoablation, AJR Am. J. Roentgenol. 197 (2) (2011) 510–515.
- [93] A. Tomasian, A. Wallace, B. Northrup, T. Hillen, J. Jennings, Spine Cryoablation: Pain Palliation and Local Tumor Control for Vertebral Metastases, AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol. 37 (1) (2016) 189–195.
- [94] D. Rosenthal, M. Callstrom, Critical review and state of the art in interventional oncology: benign and metastatic disease involving bone, Radiology 262 (3) (2012) 765–780.
- [95] A. Kurup, D. Woodrum, J. Morris, T. Atwell, G. Schmit, T. Welch, M. Yaszemski, M. Callstrom, Cryoablation of recurrent sacrococcygeal tumors, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 23 (8) (2012) 1070–1075.

- [96] B. McMenomy, A. Kurup, G. Johnson, R. Carter, R. McWilliams, S. Markovic, T. Atwell, G. Schmit, J. Morris, D. Woodrum, A. Weisbrod, P. Rose, M. Callstrom, Percutaneous cryoablation of musculoskeletal oligometastatic disease for complete remission, Journal of vascular and interventional radiology : JVIR 24 (2) (2013) 207–213.
- [97] S. Masala, O. Schillaci, A. Bartolucci, F. Calabria, M. Mammucari, G. Simonetti, Metabolic and clinical assessment of efficacy of cryoablation therapy on skeletal masses by 18F-FDG positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) and visual analogue scale (VAS): initial experience, Skeletal Radiol. 40 (2) (2011) 159-165.
- [98] F. Li, W. Wang, L. Li, Y. Chang, D. Su, G. Guo, X. He, M. Li, An effective therapy to painful bone metastases: cryoablation combined with zoledronic acid, Pathology oncology research : POR 20 (4) (2014) 885–891.
- [99] S. Masala, M. Chiocchi, A. Taglieri, A. Bindi, M. Nezzo, D. De Vivo, G. Simonetti, Combined use of percutaneous cryoablation and vertebroplasty with 3D rotational angiograph in treatment of single vertebral metastasis: comparison with vertebroplasty, Neuroradiology 55 (2) (2013) 193–200.
- [100] C. Horkan, K. Dalal, J.A. Coderre, J.L. Kiger, D.E. Dupuy, S. Signoretti, E.F. Halpern, S.N. Goldberg, Reduced tumor growth with combined radiofrequency ablation and radiation therapy in a rat breast tumor model, Radiology 235 (1) (2005) 81–88.
- [101] J. Prologo, M. Passalacqua, I. Patel, N. Bohnert, D. Corn, Image-guided cryoablation for the treatment of painful musculoskeletal metastatic disease: a single-center experience, Skeletal Radiol. 43 (11) (2014) 1551– 1559.
- [102] L. Ferrer-Mileo, A. Luque Blanco, J. González-Barboteo, Efficacy of Cryoablation to Control Cancer Pain: A Systematic Review, Pain practice : the official journal of World Institute of, Pain 18 (8) (2018) 1083–1098.
- [103] G.T. Haar, Principles of High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound, Springer, New York, 2012.
- [104] B. Liberman, D. Gianfelice, Y. Inbar, A. Beck, T. Rabin, N. Shabshin, G. Chander, S. Hengst, R. Pfeffer, A. Chechick, A. Hanannel, O. Dogadkin, R. Catane, Pain palliation in patients with bone metastases using MR-guided focused ultrasound surgery: a multicenter study, Ann. Surg. Oncol. 16 (1) (2009) 140–146.
- [105] S. Mercadante, F. Fulfaro, Management of painful bone metastases, Curr. Opin. Oncol. 19 (4) (2007) 308–314.
- [106] R. Catane, D. Gianfelice, M. Kawasaki, D. Iozeffi, S. Kanyev, A. Napoli, P. Ghanouni, G. Lo, Y. Inbar, L.S. Levi, Pain Palliation of Bone Metastases Using Magnetic Resonance Guided Focused Ultrasound Multi-Center Multi-trial Results, Ann. Oncol. 23 (2012) ix463.
- [107] Q. Zhou, X. Zhu, J. Zhang, Z. Xu, P. Lu, F. Wu, Changes in circulating immunosuppressive cytokine levels of cancer patients after high intensity focused ultrasound treatment, Ultrasound Med. Biol. 34 (1) (2008) 81–87.
- [108] D. Kopelman, Y. Inbar, A. Hanannel, R.M. Pfeffer, O. Dogadkin, D. Freundlich, B. Liberman, R. Catane, Magnetic resonance guided focused ultrasound surgery. Ablation of soft tissue at bone–muscle interface in a porcine model, Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 38 (4) (2010) 268–275.
- [109] F.A. Jolesz, MRI-guided focused ultrasound surgery, Annu. Rev. Med. 60 (1) (2009) 417–430.
- [110] R. Peters, R. Hinks, R. Henkelman, Ex vivo tissue-type independence in proton-resonance frequency shift MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 40 (3) (1998) 454–459.
- [111] M. Huisman, M. Lam, L. Bartels, R. Nijenhuis, C. Moonen, F. Knuttel, H. Verkooijen, M. van Vulpen, M. van den Bosch, Feasibility of volumetric MRI-guided high intensity focused ultrasound (MR-HIFU) for painful bone metastases, J. Ther. Ultrasound 2 (2014) 16.
- [112] B. Joo, M. Park, S. Lee, H. Choi, S. Lim, S. Rha, I. Rachmilevitch, Y. Lee, J. Suh, Pain palliation in patients with bone metastases using magnetic resonanceguided focused ultrasound with conformal bone system: a preliminary report, Yonsei Med. J. 56 (2) (2015) 503–509.
- [113] M. Huisman, M. van den Bosch, J. Wijlemans, M. van Vulpen, Y. van der Linden, H. Verkooijen, Effectiveness of reirradiation for painful bone metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 84 (1) (2012) 8–14.
- [114] M. Hurwitz, P. Ghanouni, S. Kanaev, D. Iozeffi, D. Gianfelice, F. Fennessy, A. Kuten, J. Meyer, S. LeBlang, A. Roberts, J. Choi, J. Larner, A. Napoli, V. Turkevich, Y. Inbar, C. Tempany, R. Pfeffer, Magnetic resonance-guided focused ultrasound for patients with painful bone metastases: phase III trial results, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 106 (5) (2014).
- [115] H. Lee, C. Kuo, J. Tsai, C. Chen, M. Wu, J. Chiou, Magnetic Resonance-Guided Focused Ultrasound Versus Conventional Radiation Therapy for Painful Bone Metastasis: A Matched-Pair Study, The Journal of bone and joint surgery, American 99 (18) (2017) 1572–1578.
- [116] J.D. Baal, W.C. Chen, U. Baal, S. Wagle, J.H. Baal, T.M. Link, M.D. Bucknor, Efficacy and safety of magnetic resonance-guided focused ultrasound for the treatment of painful bone metastases: a systematic review and metaanalysis, Skeletal Radiol 50 (12) (2021) 2459–2469.
- [117] R. Mcdonald, E. Chow, L. Rowbottom, C. Deangelis, H. Soliman, Incidence of pain flare in radiation treatment of bone metastases: A literature review, Journal of Bone Oncology 3 (3–4) (2014) 84–89.